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| The Inspéction was an examlnation of the activities conducted under your llcense,’as lhey relate to radiation safetyand to comphance with the Nuclear

‘FRegulatery Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions &f your lizense.. The Inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedurés
and representative records, Interviews with’ personnel and observations by the inspector. The lnspection findings are as follows: :

E ~1.' Basedonthe lnspechon findings, no violations were Identified.

/‘c

D j2 The vlolation(s), specifically described to you by the Inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-ldenﬂf' ed,
- non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criterfa in the NRC Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, to-exercise
discretion, were satisfied. . non-cited violation(s) were dlscussed InvoMng the following requlrement(s)

D A 3. Dtiriﬁg this Inspection certain of your activitles, as describeci below and/or attached, were In violation of NRC requirements and are being cited.
. " “This formIs a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which Is required o be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11.
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LI SRR STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS
"} hereby state that,{within 30 days', the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of corrective
actions is made In accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, date when full
compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested. -
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- APPENDIX A
INDUSTRIAL/ACADEMIC/RESEARCH INSPECTION FIELD NOTES

Region_lll _
Inspection Report Nd. _97-001 License No._13-26398-01
Licensee (Name & Address): Docket No. _030-32714
DowElanco
9410 Zionsville Road
Indianapolis, IN

Licensee Contact _Greg Socha Telephone No:_317-337-3609

Amendments Issued Since Last Inspection: (Numbers) _07, 08, 09, 10, 11
Dates of Above Amendments:_1/18/96, 5/13/96, 6/12/96, 3/11/97, 6/10/97 _

Priority: 2
Program Code 01100

Date of Last Inspection _5/17-6/2/95
Date of This Inspection _9/10-11/97

Type of Inspection: () Announced (x ) Unannounced
(x ) Routine () Special
() Initial . (x ) Reinspection
Next Inspection Date _9/00 () Normal () Reduced (x ) Extended

Justification for change in normal inspection frequency:

The last two inspections combined resulted in identification of only. one SLIV
violation. »

Summary of Findings and Action:

(x ) No violations cited, Clear NRC Form 591 or regional letter issued
() Violation(s), NRC Form 591 issued

() Violation(s), regional letter issued

() Followup on previous violations



